# I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The Circuit Court committed clear error when it found that Morgan Drexen has more than 245 customers in West Virginia.
- 2. The Circuit Court committed clear error by failing to distinguish the actions or inactions of Lawrence Williamson from those of the Williamson Law Firm, LLC.
- 3. The Circuit Court committed clear error by finding that Morgan Drexen, rather than licensed attorneys, reviewed documents and negotiated settlements and erroneously concluding that Morgan Drexen and Mr. Williamson violated W. Va. Code § 46A-6-104 by creating a likelihood of confusion or misunderstanding among consumers.
- 4. The Circuit Court committed clear error by finding that Rachelle McIntyre-Nicholson worked for Morgan Drexen.
- 5. The Circuit Court committed clear error by finding that Morgan Drexen engaged in telemarketing solicitations to consumers.
- 6. The Circuit Court committed clear error by finding that Mr. Williamson and Ms. McIntyre-Nicholson knew about Morgan Drexen airing television ads in West Virginia.
- 7. The Circuit Court erred in concluding that Morgan Drexen conducted business in West Virginia and that it violated W. Va. Code § 46A-6-104 by failing to maintain a business license and failing to disclose the same.
- 8. The Circuit Court erred in concluding that Morgan Drexen failed to clearly and conspicuously disclose to consumers that all fees must be paid before debt relief services begin, even though it made no finding of fact to support its conclusion and any such finding would have been untrue.
  - 9. The Circuit Court erred by implicitly finding that W. Va. Code § 61-10-23

applied to the services offered by Morgan Drexen and subsequently concluding that Morgan Drexen violated that statute.

- 10. The Circuit Court alternatively erred by concluding that the attorneys utilizing Morgan Drexen's services did not qualify for the "licensed attorney" exception contained in W. Va. Code § 61-10-23.
- 11. The Circuit Court erred by finding that Morgan Drexen is a credit services organization under the Credit Services Organization Act ("CSOA"), W. Va. Code §§ 46A-6C-1 through 12, and that it violated the CSOA by purporting to improve credit history without qualifying that such improvements can only be made if a consumer's credit history is obsolete or inaccurate.
- 12. The Circuit Court erred by applying the Telemarketing Act, W. Va. Code § 46A-6F-101, et seq., to the provision of legal services.
- 13. The Circuit Court erred by assuming, without any evidentiary basis for doing so, that "Morgan Drexen's violations of the Telemarketing Act resulted in two hundred and forty five (245) West Virginia consumers signing up for and paying into the Morgan Drexen debt settlement program."
- 14. The Circuit Court erred by concluding that Morgan Drexen violated the West Virginia Consumer Credit Protection Act ("WVCCPA"), W. Va. Code §§ 46A-1-101, et seq., because its Attorney/Client Agreement was "not written in a clear and coherent manner" and is "not easily understood by consumers in violation of W. Va. Code § 46A-6-109."
- 15. The Circuit Court erred by concluding that "Morgan Drexen clearly and conspicuously disclosed to consumers the potential adverse credit consequences for participating in debt settlement[,]" but that it nonetheless violated W. Va. Code § 46A-1-102(11).

16. The Circuit Court erred by concluding that Morgan Drexen violated W. Va. Code § 46A-1-102(11), a definitional section of the WVCCPA (for the term "conspicuous").

17. Further, the Circuit Court erred by concluding that Mr. Williamson engaged in unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in violation of W. Va. Code § 46A-6-104.

# II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# A. Factual Background.

# 1. <u>Defendant Morgan Drexen</u>

Morgan Drexen provides paraprofessional and administrative services to law firms from its offices in Costa Mesa, California. (A. R. 1506-1507, 1509-1510, 1553). Simply put, Morgan Drexen contracts with law firms, not consumers. (A. R. 1507-1508). Morgan Drexen's sole income is received from the law firms it services. (A. R. 1508).

The Chief Financial Officer of Morgan Drexen, David Walker, explained the services Morgan Drexen provides:

Mr. Walker: We specialize primarily within the legal field. We service attorneys

to make their processes more efficient, and we service attorneys who primarily do bankruptcy, personal liability, mass tort,

bankruptcy, debt settlement.

Q: Q. Okay. What kind of services, automated services does Morgan

Drexen provide in those areas, generally?

Mr. Walker: Automated services?

Q: Yes.

Mr. Walker: Well, we do a lot of the, the kind of docketing -- serving as a

docketing, a file clerk, receipt of mail and information like that from the clients. We answer client telephone calls, calendaring for the attorneys, all the paralegal and paraprofessional services for

them.

Q: Okay. What kind of paraprofessional services? What does that mean?

Mr. Walker: It's all the, the things that they would typically ask a clerk or paralegal in their offices to do for them, or an office manager.

(A. R. 1506-1507).

Morgan Drexen also provides accounting and financial services for law firms, including arranging for routine electronic transfers to law firms' trust accounts. (A. R. 1508). It does so pursuant to an Agreement for Automated Electronic Funds Transfer whereby the law firm's client authorizes the law firm or Morgan Drexen on its behalf "to initiate ACH entries against" the law firm's client's bank account. (A. R. 1521, 1633). Those payments are not paid to Morgan Drexen, but rather are transferred into the law firm's trust accounts to be held in escrow for payment of various fees related to the law firm's services and, once sufficient funds have accumulated, for settlement of the client's debts, if applicable. (A. R. 1510).

Morgan Drexen does not itself retain such fees nor is it paid any compensation by the law firm's clients. <u>Id.</u> Rather, Morgan Drexen is paid for its services by the law firms with whom it contracts. (A. R. 1508). Morgan Drexen invoices the attorneys based upon the type of services provided to the law firms. <u>Id.</u> At no time does Morgan Drexen retain any fee from any consumer for any service of any kind, including debt pooling or debt settlement. (A. R. 1508).

#### 2. <u>Lawrence Williamson</u>

Lawrence Williamson is an attorney licensed to practice law in Kansas and is a member of the Williamson Law Firm, LLC (the "Williamson Law Firm"). (A. R. 1493, 1499). The Williamson Law Firm provides legal services relating to personal injury, employment law and consumer protection, and engages the services of Morgan Drexen for back-office administrative and paraprofessional support. (A. R. 1493, 1499). Mr. Williamson's prior law firm, Shores,

Williamson & Ohaebosim, L.L.C. and Howard | Nassiri entered into a separate agreement, pursuant to which Mr. Williamson's law firm agreed to use the attorneys with whom Howard | Nassiri associated. (A.R. 1644 -1646). Howard | Nassiri agreed to provide Mr. Williamson's law firm with access to its network of local counsel for states in which the private attorney does not otherwise have a local counsel arrangement. (A.R. 1495, 1644-1645).

The Williamson Law Firm – not Lawrence Williamson, himself – had approximately 245 clients active in the debt settlement program in West Virginia. (A.R. 1496). The Agreement that each client signs (including those West Virginia clients who testified at trial -- Mary Linville and Brenda Martin), is clear about the means by which in-state legal services will be furnished:

4. UTILIZATION OF LOCAL COUNSEL You authorize Attorneys with the discretion to select an attorney licensed in your jurisdiction ("local counsel") to assist Attorneys in providing services under this Agreement. Attorneys' use of local counsel will not increase the fees and charges you agreed to pay under this Agreement. If Attorneys needs to transfer your case from one local counsel to another, your consent to such transfer will be implied unless you object in writing within seven (7) days. By signing this Agreement, you are consenting to Attorneys sharing part of the contingent fee or any other fee paid to Attorneys under this Agreement with local counsel.

# (A. R. 1518 (emphasis added).)

The Williamson Law Firm's West Virginia clients are assigned to Rachel McIntyre-Nicholson, an attorney licensed to practice law in West Virginia, who serves as the firm's local counsel. (A. R. 1472, 1473, 1475, 1479). Ms. McIntyre-Nicholson contracted with Howard | Nassiri to serve as local counsel in the Howard | Nassiri network. (A. R. 1481, 1529-1531). She also separately contracted with Morgan Drexen to perform paralegal and legal administrative work for clients of her law firm. (A. R. 1479, 1482, 1552-1567).

#### 3. The Pre-Litigation Attorney/Client Agreement & Services Pursuant Thereto

The Attorney/Client Agreement clearly and conspicuously establishes the parameters of the attorney/client relationship, the debt settlement services at issue, the law firm's potential use of outside companies to assist it in performing the services at issue, the risks and possible tax consequences attendant to enrolling in the debt settlement program, the risk that creditors may file suit against firm clients for ceasing payments on their debts during participation in the program, and an explanation that no particular outcome can be guaranteed. (A. R. 1628-1631). The Attorney/Client Agreement also states that the scope of the specific representation includes only negotiation and settlement of debt, and that representation for other matters, including litigation or bankruptcy, would be subject to separate retainer agreement. (A. R. 1518, 1628).

Upon receipt of a signed Attorney/Client Agreement, letters are sent to creditors informing them that the client has retained legal counsel and that all further communications must be directed to the attorney. (A. R. 1518, 1628, 1532, 1635). Upon receiving notice of attorney representation, creditors are thereafter precluded under West Virginia and federal law from contacting the client directly and must, instead, address all communications to the client's counsel. W. Va. Code § 46A-2-128(e); 15 U.S.C. § 1592b. This communication constitutes a valuable service to shield clients from the potentially harassing collection communications.

## 4. Post-Litigation Attorney-Client Agreement

If the creditor files suit against the client, the client receives a separate "Limited Scope Representation." (A. R. 1590-1591, 1526.) "Limited Scope Representation" is "a relationship between an attorney and a person seeking legal services in which they have agreed that the scope of the legal services will be limited to specific tasks that the attorney will perform for the person." Id. The "Agreement and Authorization for Limited Scope Representation" restates this definition, and explains that under the agreement, attorneys will provide the client with "legal advice and/or suggested pleadings for any of your accounts that are in litigation," and then lists a number of "specific limited tasks" that the attorneys may perform and the prices therefor. Id. It

also conspicuously informs clients of the parameters of representation by stating with emphasis that "attorneys have not agreed to represent you by, for example, going to a hearing or trial with you, preparing your case for trial, or providing any legal assistance other than the limited legal advice and/or documents that are the subject of this agreement." Id. (emphasis added). The Limited Scope Representation Agreement states that "you understand and agree that Attorneys may utilize the services of outside companies or law firms to assist Attorneys in performing the services under this Agreement." Id.

# B. Procedural History

On May 20, 2010, the Attorney General filed a Complaint and Petition for Preliminary and Permanent Injunction ("Complaint") against Morgan Drexen in the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, West Virginia, alleging violations of various provisions of the WVCCPA, the CSOA, and the West Virginia Telemarketing Act, W. Va. Code § 46A-6F-101, et seq., and also alleges violations of other statutes which violations he further claims constitute unfair or deceptive acts or practices, namely W. Va. Code § 61-10-23 (prohibiting debt pooling); W. Va. Code § 11-12-3 (requiring certain entities to register with and pay fees to the West Virginia Tax Department); and the alleged unauthorized practice of law by attorney Lawrence Williamson.

The Attorney General named Mr. Williamson, individually, as a defendant and also sued the law firm of Howard | Nassiri, and its principals Vincent D. Howard and Damian J. Nassiri, all of whom oversaw and directed the actions of the paralegals and paraprofessionals employed by Morgan Drexen, and the local attorney, Rachel McIntyre-Nicholson. In the Fifth Cause of Action, the Attorney General alleges that Mr. Williamson personally violated the WVCCPA by receiving fees from his clients, while allegedly failing to provide any services to those individuals. The Sixth Cause of Action alleges that Mr. Williamson violated the WVCCPA by

engaging in the unauthorized practice of law in West Virginia. The Seventh Cause of Action asserts that Ms. McIntyre-Nicholson violated the WVCCPA by assisting Mr. Williamson in engaging in the unauthorized practice of law. The Eighth Cause of Action alleges that Morgan Drexen and Mr. Williamson violated the WVCCPA by failing to comply with the provisions of the CSOA. In the Tenth Cause of Action, the Attorney General alleges that Morgan Drexen and Mr. Williamson violated the WVCCPA by failing to comply with W. Va. Code § 61-10-23, West Virginia's debt pooling statute.

#### C. Trial Court Order Below

On September 7, 2011, the Circuit Court conducted a bench trial on all of the Attorney General's claims against all of the defendants<sup>1</sup> except for those allegations related to the unauthorized practice of law, which the Circuit Court determined should be addressed in a different forum. Nearly three years later, the Circuit Court entered its "Final Order" on July 15, 2014 ("Order"). The Order contained 135 numbered paragraphs styled as "Findings of Fact." It contained 20 numbered paragraphs styled as "Conclusions of Law." (A.R. 66-72).

The Circuit Court concluded that Morgan Drexen had violated the WVCCPA six times by engaging in unfair methods of competition or committing unfair or deceptive acts or practices with respect to each of the 245 West Virginia clients. (A. R. 71). Accordingly, it assessed a \$7,350,000.00 penalty against Morgan Drexen. The Circuit Court further concluded that Morgan Drexen had twice violated West Virginia's Debt Pooling Statute, W. Va. Code § 61-10-23 and assessed a penalty of \$500.00. Id. Finally, the Circuit Court concluded that Morgan Drexen had violated the CSOA with regard to each of the 245 West Virginians and assessed a fine of

The Circuit Court found that the Attorney General failed to introduce any evidence supporting a claim against Mr. Ledda. (A. R. 70). Further, Defendants Vincent D. Howard and Damian J. Nassiri were similarly never served and no rulings were made against them.

\$1,225,000.00. <u>Id.</u> Collectively, the Circuit Court ordered Morgan Drexen to pay \$8,575,500.00 in penalties. (A. R. 72). It also permanently enjoined and restrained Morgan Drexen and all of its directors, managers, agents, and employees from conducting business, telemarketing, or providing debt relief in West Virginia.

With respect to the Attorney General's claims against Ms. McIntyre-Nicholson, the Circuit Court found that "the State failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that Ms. Nicholson misled consumers to believe they were receiving legal representation in violation of . . .W. Va. Code § 46A-6-104." (A.R. 68). Similarly, the Circuit Court found that claims against Howard | Nassiri for receiving fees from consumers without providing services in violation of W. Va. Code § 46A-6-104 were not substantiated. (A. R. 67).

However, the Court found that "Mr. Williamson creates the likelihood of confusion or of misunderstanding by representing to consumers that his law firm will provide services when it does not in violation of W. Va. § 46A-6-104," and further that Mr. Williamson "has deceived consumers by representing that his law firm will provide legal services to consumers in West Virginia when it does not." (A.R. 50). As such, the Circuit Court concluded that Mr. Williamson committed one violation of the WVCCPA by engaging in unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices with regard to each of the 245 consumers in West Virginia. (A. R. 71). Citing W. Va. Code §§ 46A-6-104, 46A-6-102(7)(I), (L), (M), the Court concluded that "Defendant Mr. Williamson creates the likelihood of confusion or of misunderstanding by representing to consumers that his law firm will provide services when it does not, which, in terms of the West Virginia Code, amounts to advertising services with intent not to sell them as advertised and misrepresenting a material fact with the intent that others rely upon such

misrepresentation in connection with the sale or advertisement of service." (A.R. 68).<sup>2</sup> The Circuit Court assessed a \$1,225,000.00 penalty against Mr. Williamson, and not the Law Firm, for one violation. (A.R. 71).

It is from this Order that Morgan Drexen and Mr. Williamson appeal and request that this Court reverse the Order, dismiss the Complaint, and enter judgment in their favor.

## III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court's Order finding that Morgan Drexen violated the WVCCPA, the West Virginia's Debt Pooling Statute, the CSOA, and the Telemarketing Act are not supported by a clear reading of the statutes and undisputed facts. First, Morgan Drexen did not engage in any unfair methods of competition or commit any unfair or deceptive acts or practices, nor does it have 245 customers. The Williamson Law Firm and its local counsel, Rachelle McIntyre-Nicholson provided valuable and necessary legal services associated to their clients and Morgan Drexen provided paraprofessional and administrative services to those law firms.

There was no evidence that any individual was confused about how the program operated or the risks associated with it and the legal services they were provided by the law firms. Nor does the WVCCPA apply, as a whole, because the agreement between the lawyers and their clients does not involve an extension of credit. The unrefuted facts prove that Morgan Drexen provides services only to lawyers, receives no income from consumers, and that the risks involved in the debt settlement are fully disclosed to the law firms' clients.

Second, the debt pooling statute is inapplicable because the attorneys' settlement program at issue is not debt pooling. Even if it were, the fees assessed by the attorneys would be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Attorney General did not file a Notice of Appeal challenging the Circuit Court's finding as to Ms. McIntyre-Nicholson. Thus, the factual rulings and conclusions of law as to the causes of action alleged against her are the law of this case.

statutorily permissible because the service is provided by attorneys. Third, the CSOA does not apply to Morgan Drexen because it does not obtain extensions of credit for, nor claims to improve the credit scores of, clients for the law firms it services. Fourth, the Telemarketing Act does not apply as a matter of law since Morgan Drexen is not a "telemarketer" within the definition of the act.

Fifth, the Circuit Court's conclusion that Mr. Williamson committed one violation of WVCCPA by engaging in unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices with regard to 245 consumers in West Virginia is incorrect as a matter of law and not supported by the substantial evidence. The Circuit Court's assessment of \$1,225,000.00 in penalties against Mr. Williamson individually is based upon erroneous facts and the conflation of Mr. Williamson with the Williamson Law Firm, LLC. Mr. Williamson did not contract individually with the consumer-clients: rather, all attorney-client agreements were between the client and the Williamson Law Firm.

Furthermore, contrary to the Court's findings, the uncontroverted evidence at trial was that Mr. Williamson did, in fact, review settlement documents and provide other legal services for clients involved in the debt settlement program. Those settlements involving West Virginia clients as well as collection litigation involving those clients were referred to local counsel here in West Virginia. Additionally, other members of his firm participated in the negotiation of settlements.

# IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

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