DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

FILE COPY

E

FEB 1 3 2015

RORY L. PERRY II, CLERK SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Nos. 14-0791 and 14-0792

Morgan Drexen, Inc.,
Defendant Below, Petitioner

v. No. 14-0791

Patrick Morrisey, Attorney General, Plaintiff Below, Respondent

AND

Lawrence Williamson,
Defendant Below, Petitioner

v. No. 14-0792

Patrick Morrisey, Attorney General, Plaintiff Below, Respondent

FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF KANAWHA COUNTY, WEST VIRGINIA CIVIL ACTION NO. 11-C-829

RESPONSE BRIEF OF THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA EX REL. PATRICK MORRISEY, ATTORNEY GENERAL

Respectfully submitted: Patrick Morrisey, Attorney General

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioners have alleged seventeen (17) assignments of error, primarily complaining the trial court's findings of fact were wrong. As set forth herein, the record amply supports the Circuit Court's determination.

The Circuit Court correctly found that Morgan Drexen and Williamson misled consumers into believing that lawyers would provide legal services when they did not, in violation of the WVCCPA. W. Va. Code § 46A-6-104 as defined by W. Va. Code §§ 46A-6-102(7)(B),(L) and (M). Morgan Drexen admitted it was not authorized to do business in West Virginia, yet did so, and failed to disclose its lack of licensure to consumers in violation of W. Va. Code § 46A-6-104 as defined by W. Va. Code §§ 46A-6-102(7)(B), (C), (L) and (M). Morgan Drexen similarly failed to disclose that no debt settlement services would start until after its fees were paid and further failed to disclose that lawyers would not perform those services as advertised. W. Va. Code § 46A-6-104 as defined by § 46A-6-102(7)(I) and (L). The court correctly found Morgan Drexen used documents that were not clear and coherent as to who created the documents and who was providing debt relief services. W. Va. Code § 46A-6-109.

Additionally, the evidence supported the trial court's determination that Morgan Drexen's debt settlement program was a "debt pooling" as defined by W. Va. Code § 61-10-23. Accordingly, under the debt pooling statute, the conclusion was properly made that Morgan Drexen could only collect 2% of the money deposited for payment to creditors yet it collected in excess of that amount in violation of the statute.

Similarly, the trial court properly determined that Morgan Drexen provided credit services to West Virginia consumers by leading consumers to believe that its debt settlement program would improve their credit records. W. Va. Code § 46A-6C-1 et seq. Morgan Drexen also engaged in telemarketing, collecting fees before its credit improvement efforts had concluded. W. Va. Code § 46A-6F-101 et seq.

The Circuit Court's findings were not clearly erroneous and the ultimate decision was well within the Court's discretion. Those findings and conclusions should be affirmed.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument is unnecessary as the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented and the decisional process will not be aided by oral argument. See W.Va. R. App. P. 18(a).

ARGUMENT

As stated previously, Petitioners have raised seventeen (17) assignments of error. This shotgun approach to an appeal is generally viewed with caution.

Ingenious and diligent counsel have taken a shotgun approach to the validity [of the proceedings], asserting that reversible error occurred in [numerous] respects. So many points of error suggest that none are valid.

Elizabethtown Gas Co. v. Nat'l Labor Rel. Bd., 212 F.3d 257, 262 n.2 (4th Cir. 2000), quoting U.S. v. Sawyers, 423 F.2d 1335, 1338 (4th Cir. 1970). In the instant matter, the view espoused by the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals is apt. In large part, Petitioners challenge what they believe to be a fundamental factual error committed by the trial court: that West Virginia consumers were clients of Morgan Drexen rather than Williamson. This one (1) finding is the basis for fourteen (14) of Petitioners' seventeen (17) assignments of error. However, the evidence adduced supportive of the trial court's findings and conclusions is substantial and in no way leaves a "firm and definite conviction" that a mistake has been made. The findings and conclusions should, therefore, be affirmed.

A. Standard of Review

The standard of review does not allow for the Petitioners to substitute their view of the facts for the trial court's. The findings of fact by the trial court – the factfinder in this matter:

shall not be set aside by a reviewing court unless clearly erroneous. A finding is clearly erroneous when, although there is evidence to support the finding, the reviewing court on the entire evidence is left with the definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been committed. However, a reviewing court may not overturn a finding simply because it would have decided the case differently, and it must affirm a finding if the circuit court's account of the evidence is plausible in light of the record viewed in its entirety.

In Interest of Tiffany Marie S., 196 W. Va. 223, 470 S.E.2d 177, Syl. pt. 1 (1996). Furthermore, "An appellate court may not decide the credibility of witnesses or weigh evidence as that is the exclusive function and task of the trier of fact. . . . It is for the [factfinder] to decide which witnesses to believe or disbelieve. Once the [factfinder] has spoken, this Court may not review the credibility of the witnesses." State v. Guthrie, 194 W. Va. 657, 670, 461 S.E.2d 163, 176, n. 9 (1995)(citation omitted) ("[A]ppellate review is not a device for this Court to replace a jury's finding with our own conclusion."). State v. Bailey, 151 W. Va. 796, 155 S.E.2d 850, Syl. pt.2 (1967) (the factfinder "is the sole judge as to the weight of the evidence and the credibility of the witnesses.").

The Circuit Court ruled that Petitioners were operating a ruse. A.R. 37 (¶71). Therefore, it is incumbent upon the court to look beyond the surface of what Petitioners claim to be doing. The witness testimony, in conjunction with the documents presented to the Circuit Court, make it

[&]quot;In reviewing challenges to the findings and conclusions of the circuit court, we apply a two-prong deferential standard of review. We review the final order and the ultimate disposition under an abuse of discretion standard, and we review the circuit court's underlying factual findings under a clearly erroneous standard. Questions of law are subject to de novo review." Cavalry SPV I, LLC v. Morrisey, 232 W. Va. 325, 331, 752 S.E.2d 356, 362 (2013).

clear the Circuit Court reached the correct conclusion. This Court's admonition to look behind the mere form of a transaction to discern if unlawful usury conduct has occurred is instructive:

The usury statute contemplates that a search for usury shall not stop at the mere form of the bargains and contracts relative to such loan, but that all shifts and devices intended to cover a usurious loan or forbearance shall be pushed aside, and the transaction shall be dealt with as usurious if it be such in fact. *Crim v. Post*, 41 W. Va. 397, 23 S.E. 613 (1895).

Carper v. Kanawha Banking & Trust Co., 157 W. Va. 477, 478, 207 S.E.2d 897, 901, Syl. pt. 4 (1974). See also, Reese v. Melahn, 53 Ill.2d 508, 513, 292 N.E.2d 375, 379 (1973) ("the substance of the transaction, and not the form, is to be regarded in the determination of the rights of the parties. . . . It is the nature of the enterprise undertaken that controls, not the form of the agreement.") (quoting Ditis v. Ahlvin Constr. Co., 408 Ill. 416, 425, 97 N.E.2d 244, 249 (1951)); Pielet v. Hiffman, 407 Ill.App.3d 788, 798, 948 N.E.2d 87, 97 (1st Dist.2011); and Central Prod. Credit Ass'n v. Hans, 189 Ill.App.3d 889, 909, 545 N.E.2d 1063, 1077 (2d Dist.1989) ("Courts will disregard names and penetrate disguises to determine the substance of the act or transaction and will not be misled by devices and subterfuges."). See also, State ex rel. Frieson v. Isner, 168 W. Va. 758,775, 285 S.E.2d 641, 653 (1981) ("the assignment of a creditor's claim to a collection agency for purposes of enabling the agency to sue in its own name is a sham and a fraud perpetrated upon the court, a subterfuge which permits the collection agency to carry on the business of practicing law without being subject to the regulation and control of the courts.").

B. Assignments of Error

Assignment 1. Petitioners claim the trial court erred when it found Morgan Drexen had 245 customers in West Virginia. Even though the debt settlement contracts appear to be between Williamson and consumers, after examining the evidence, the trial court found the arrangements to be a ruse, and correctly found the customers were Morgan Drexen's, not Williamson's. The

facts supporting this determination were clear and admitted. The record adduced demonstrates that Williamson had very little to do with West Virginia consumers. Williamson admits that he did not review their documents, did not meet with them, and did not negotiate with their creditors. A.R. 1497 (p. 175), A.R. 836. Petitioner admitted that he did not even review the settlements negotiated by Morgan Drexen for West Virginia consumers. Rather, in Williamson's affidavit, he stated that any legal work that was to be done in West Virginia was handled by Nicholson, A.R. 1637. 12

Williamson's contract with Morgan Drexen also emphasizes that Morgan Drexen is in control of the relationship. A.R. 1647.¹³ For example, Morgan Drexen required Williamson to maintain errors and omissions liability insurance. A.R. 1649. Williamson was required to affirm he was licensed to practice law in Kansas and he would promptly report to Morgan Drexen any negative bar discipline or criminal convictions. A.R. 1650. Morgan Drexen can assign the contract at will while Williamson was required to obtain Morgan Drexen's consent before assigning the contract. A.R. 1655. Morgan Drexen also takes a security interest in all the money generated from the debt settlement program. A.R. 1656-57.

The record clearly demonstrates that Morgan Drexen maintained control of the debt settlement program since its inception. Petitioner was using the basic debt relief contract before Williamson's involvement. A.R. 942-944. It provided the advertising, customer intake, debt planning, correspondence, debt negotiating, and creditor payment, among other services. *See*,

Williamson admitted that he did not have a written contract with Nicholson and that he had never communicated with her in writing or orally before the State commenced its investigation in December 2010. A.R. 620 (¶ 106, admitting the allegations of the complaint). Instead, he relied on a contract with Howard|Nassiri to provide him with local counsel. A.R. 1637, 1644. The contract, referred to as a "clearinghouse" agreement, however, only provides for Howard|Nassiri to be Williamson's local counsel, not Nicholson. A.R. 1476 (p. 88); A.R. 1644-46.

¹³ The contract is between Williamson and Morgan Drexen, not Williamson's law firm. A.R. 1647.

e.g., A.R. 825-831, 1460-63, 1480, 1499-500, 1514-17, 1522, 1523, 1533-1551, 1624, 1633. The Circuit Court made no error and the decision should be affirmed.

Assignment 2. Petitioners claim the court erred in holding Williamson responsible for his actions or the actions of his law firm, Williamson Law Firm, LLC. The trial court correctly found that Williamson was misleading consumers to believe that he would provide debt settlement services, which he admitted he did not provide. Moreover, the trial court correctly concluded that Williamson cannot hide his wrongdoing behind his limited liability company.

Petitioners rely on general corporation law to argue for Williamson's absolution for his misdeeds. Pet. Brief, pp. 15-16. However, this reliance is misplaced. For many years, lawyers were not permitted to practice law in a corporation. W. Va. Code § 30-2-5. In 1972, the West Virginia Legislature permitted lawyers to form legal corporations. W. Va. Code § 30-2-5a. Practicing in the corporate form, however, did not relieve lawyers of personal liability for their actions.

This section does not modify the law as it relates to the relationship between a person furnishing legal services and his client, nor does it modify the law as it relates to liability arising out of such a professional service relationship. Except for permitting legal corporations, this section is not intended to modify any legal requirement or court rule relating to ethical standards of conduct required of persons providing legal service.

W. Va. Code § 30-2-5a(c). Simply stated, Petitioner cannot evade legal duties and ethical responsibilities by virtue of a corporate entity. See In re Sinnott, 176 Vt. 596, 600-601, 845 A.2d 373, 380-381 (2004) (lawyer providing debt settlement services found personally responsible to pay restitution even though he attempted to avoid personal liability through corporate structure); Street v. Sugerman, 202 So.2d 749, 751 (Fla. 1967) (attorneys permitted to incorporate to take advantage of tax and retirement benefits not to immunize themselves from personal liability);

First Bank & Trust Co. v. Zagoria, 250 Ga. 844, 846, 302 S.E.2d 674, 675-676 (1983) ("It is inappropriate for the lawyer to be able to play hide-and-seek in the shadows and folds of the corporate veil and thus escape the responsibilities of professionalism."). No piercing of the corporate veil is necessary. See also Michael T. Escue, Comment, Limiting Lawyer Liability in West Virginia, 99 W. Va. L. Rev. 837, 839 (liability protection from business debts such as bank loans, leases, equipment purchases, torts unrelated to the law practice, vicarious liability for wrongs committed by others in the firm).

This Court's Rules of Professional Conduct also allow attorneys to practice in a limited liability company but mandate that, "Nothing in this rule or the law or laws under which a lawyer or law firm is organized shall relieve a lawyer from personal liability for the act, errors, and omissions of such lawyer arising out of the performance of professional legal services." W. Va. R. Prof'l. Conduct 5.7(b). Williamson's name is printed near the signature line for both Linville's and Martin's contracts indicating he would be the responsible lawyer. A.R. 1521, 1623. Petitioner had to be the responsible lawyer if his "clearinghouse" agreement could have any effect. A.R. 1644-46. According to his testimony, Williamson was the only lawyer in his firm until March 2011. A.R. 1498 (pp. 177-78). Therefore, as the trial court ruled, Williamson cannot avoid liability for his role in this scheme. Petitioner not only caused the likelihood of confusion, he actually caused confusion. W. Va. Code § 46A-6-104 as defined by § 46A-6102(7)(1), (L)and (M). Linville believed Williamson would provide legal services.

¹⁴ Unfair or deceptive practices are defined to be, in part,

⁽I) Advertising goods or services with intent not to sell them as advertised;

⁽L) Engaging in any other conduct which similarly creates a likelihood of confusion or of misunderstanding;

⁽M) The act, use or employment by any person of any deception, fraud, false pretense, false promise or misrepresentation, or the concealment, suppression or omission of any material fact with intent that others rely upon such concealment, suppression or omission, in connection with the sale or

A.R. 1462 (p.33) ("I thought I had all of these lawyers working for me."). The underlying decision should be affirmed.

Assignment 3. Petitioners claim error occurred when the Circuit Court found Morgan Drexen reviewed documents and negotiated settlements rather than the lawyers. It is without question, based upon the evidence presented, that the Circuit Court reached the correct conclusion. As discussed herein, the underlying Defendant and West Virginia attorney, Nicholson, admitted she had nothing to do with the debt settlement program until suit was filed against a consumer. A.R. 695. Petitioner Williamson admitted he did not review documents and did not negotiate settlements. A.R. 1497. Indeed, Williamson maintained that an attorney in his office did negotiate with creditors; however, the evidence revealed that said attorney did not start working for him until March 2011, three and one half years after Williamson started working with Morgan Drexen. A.R. 1497 (p. 177). In his affidavit, Williamson further admitted he did not communicate with West Virginia customers. A.R. 836. Similarly, Morgan Drexen's Chief Operating Officer, Rita Augusta, submitted an affidavit making it clear that Morgan Drexen provides all the meaningful debt settlement services. A.R. 827-828.

Petitioners try to divert attention to testimony about activities undertaken by Nicholson or Williamson after a consumer was sued. However, as noted herein, such representation required a separate contract – distinct from the debt settlement contract. Indeed, the separate Limited Scope Representation agreement required more fees to be paid. A.R. 1466 (p. 80), 1526. The trial court correctly focused on the debt settlement program, the subject of the litigation and the substance of this appeal. Perhaps the most telling evidence was Nicholson's sworn statement: "I don't do

advertisement of any goods or services, whether or not any person has in fact been misled, deceived or damaged thereby;

W. Va. Code § 46A-6-102(7)(I), (L) and (M).

any debt settlement." A.R. 692-697. The trial court's findings are not clearly erroneous and the decision should be affirmed.

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